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COMPLAINT

There is no other pending or resolved civil
action arising out of the transaction or
occurrence alleged in this complaint.

Introduction

1. African-American homeowners in Wayne County are enduring a tax foreclosure

crisis of a magnitude not experienced by homeowners in Michigan since the Great Depression.

Wayne County and Eric Sabree, acting in his capacity as the Wayne County Treasurer (the

“Wayne County Defendants™) are preparing to seize the homes of thousands of county

homeowners — the overwhelming majority of whom are African-American — due to their

inability to pay property taxes that are magnitudes higher than the taxes that can legally be

assessed under Michigan law. The Wayne County Defendants’ actions have an unjustified

disparate impact on African-American homeowners in Wayne County in violation of the Fair



Housing Act of 1968. 42 USC 3601-3619. Five Wayne County homeowners at risk of
foreclosure — joined by four Wayne County neighborhood associations — bring this housing
discrimination class action on behalf of themselves and all similarly situated homeowners who
are at risk of losing their homes as a result of unlawfully imposed, excessive taxes. Plaintiffs
seek a preliminary and final order halting the foreclosures and sales of all owner-occupied homes
that have been improperly over-assessed.

2. Additionally, thousands of Detroit homeowners who qualify for a poverty
exemption excusing them from paying property taxes have been unlawfully prevented from
obtaining that exemption due to needlessly complex and impenetrable application procedures
improperly administered by the City of Detroit and the Detroit Citizens Board of Review (the
“Detroit Defendants”). Four Detroit homeowners illegally precluded from receiving the poverty
exemption — joined by four Wayne County neighborhood associations — bring this challenge
under 42 USC 1983 on behalf of themselves and all similarly situated homeowners. They seek a
preliminary and final order finding that their constitutional right to due process was violated by
the misadministration of the poverty exemption application process; requiring the Detroit
Defendants to allow members of the class to apply retroactively for poverty exemptions for each
tax year from 2013 to 2016; and requiring the Detroit Defendants both to remove unduly
burdensome documentary requirements from the application process and to ensure that adequate
procedural due process is extended to all poverty exemption applicants going forward.

3. Under Michigan law, a homeowner’s property taxes must be based on the “True
Cash Value” of their home. Michigan law requires that each municipality conduct annual
assessments to determine the True Cash Value of all homes. If a homeowner does not pay

property taxes based on these assessments within three years, the county will foreclose upon the



home and sell it in a foreclosure sale, resulting in the eviction of the homeowner or any other
occupants living in the home.

4. The City of Detroit has failed to conduct properly the legally mandated property
assessments for at least two decades. Further, after the values of homes began to drop
precipitously in 2008, the City of Detroit failed to reduce the assessed values of the homes to
match the actual True Cash Values, a fact which city officials have acknowledged. As a result,
homeowners, including Plaintiffs, were taxed as if their homes were worth many times their
actual True Cash Value.

5. The inability to pay these excessive taxes results in tax foreclosure by the Wayne
County Defendants. Indeed, the Wayne County Treasurer has foreclosed upon owner-occupied
homes in Detroit and across Wayne County, and plans to continue to do so, despite his awareness
that many Wayne County homeowners’ taxes are based on unlawful and grossly over-assessed
values.

6. The Wayne County Defendants’ practice of foreclosing on homes in the county
with tax debts based on an illegal over-assessments of property values has a gross disparate
impact on African Americans in Wayne County. In fact, in Census blocks within Wayne County
where a majority of homeowners are African-American, the tax foreclosure rate is 10 to 15 times
the rate of tax foreclosures in Census blocks where the majority of homeowners are non-African-
American. This is in direct violation of the Fair Housing Act, which bars not only intentional
housing discrimination, but also unjustified neutral practices that have an adverse disparate
impact on people of color.

7. Moreover, impoverished homeowners in the City of Detroit are being illegally

assessed property taxes that they should not be required to pay. Michigan and Detroit law entitle



impoverished homeowners to a “poverty tax exemption,” which reduces a qualified
homeowner’é tax burden by half or eliminates it entirely. However, the City of Detroit’s process
for Detroiters to obtain a poverty exemption is so convoluted and difficult, and in some cases
impossible, that it has violated the due process rights of qualifying individuals.

8. Before this year, taxpayers who sought a poverty exemption had to first apply in
person at the Coleman A. Young Municipal Center to receive an actual application for an
exemption in the mail. The Municipal Center is located many miles away from the City’s most
impoverished areas and has limited hours of operation, which fall on weekdays at times when
many homeowners are at work. In 2016, the Detroit Defendants changed their poverty-
exemption application process, so that homeowners can now request an application over the
phone and one will be mailed to them. However, even with this change, taxpayers who applied
for an application either did not receive it, or it arrived so close to the deadline for submission
that it was no feasible to complete the multiple-page form and collect the required supporting
materials before the deadline. And still, many of those who succeeded in submitting a timely,
complete poverty exemption application either never heard back regarding the decision on their
application or were denied for reasons that were arbitrary and capricious.

9. Accordingly, many homeowners who qualified for, but were not able to secure, a
poverty tax exemption have lost and are at risk of losing their homes as a result of their inability
to pay taxes that they never should have been required to pay.

10.  Plaintiffs ask this Court to (a) certify a class of all current and future African-
American homeowners of owner-occupied homes in Wayne County at risk of tax foreclosure

sale (“Over-Assessment Class™), and (b) enter a preliminary and final order declaring that the



Wayne County Defendants’ actions violate the Fair Housing Act and halting foreclosures on
owner-occupied homes in Wayne County until proper and lawful taxes are assessed.

11.  Plaintiffs further ask this Court to (c) certify a class of all current and future
Detroit homeowners eligible for the poverty tax exemption (“Poverty Exemption Class™), and (d)
enter a preliminary and final order declaring that the Detroit Defendants’ actions violate the Due
Process Clause; requiring the Detroit Defendants to allow members of the class to apply
retroactively for poverty exemptions for each tax year between 2013 and 2016; and requiring the
Detroit Defendants both to remove unduly burdensome documentary requirements from the
application process and to ensure adequate procedural due process is extended to all poverty
exemption applicants going forward.

Parties

12. Plaintiffs Walter Hicks, Spirlin Moore, Dewhannea Fox, DeAunna Black, and
Robert Lewis are African-American homeowners in Wayne County who are facing foreclosure
because they owe taxes based on over-assessments of their homes. They bring this action
individually and on behalf of the proposed Over-Assessment Class.

13. Plaintiffs Walter Hicks, Spirlin Moore, Julia Aikens, and Edward Knapp are
homeowners in the City of Detroit who were eligible for the poverty exemption from property
taxes but were denied the exemption due to the unduly burdensome, arbitrary, and capricious
policies and practices of the City of Detroit and the Detroit Citizens Board of Review. They
bring this action individually and on behalf of the proposed Poverty Exemption Class.

14.  Plaintiffs MorningSide Community Organization, Historic Russell Woods-
Sullivan Area Association, Oakman Boulevard Community Association, and Neighbors Building
Brightmoor are voluntary associations made up of members who live in communities within

Wayne County and the City of Detroit. These association Plaintiffs have members who are
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facing foreclosure because they owe taxes based on over-assessments of their homes and
members who have been unlawfully denied the poverty exemption to property taxes. These
association Plaintiffs have been adversely affected by the unlawful tax foreclosures of homes in
violation of the Fair Housing Act and by the illegal denial of poverty exemptions to eligible
homeowners in violation of the constitutional guarantee of due process. Home foreclosures in
these association Plaintiffs’ neighborhoods destabilize their communities, reduce the tax base,
and negatively affect schools, business investment, and other measures of neighborhood vitality.

15.  Defendant Eric Sabree (also referred to as “Defendant Wayne County Treasurer”™)
occupies the office of Wayne County Treasurer and is sued in his official capacity.

16.  Defendant Wayne County is a political and corporate entity organized and
existing under the laws of the State of Michigan.

17.  Collectively, Defendant Eric Sabree and Defendant Wayne County are referred to
as the “Wayne County Defendants.”

18.  Defendant City of Detroit is a political and corporate entity organized and existing
under the laws of the State of Michigan.

19.  Defendant Detroit Citizens Board of Review is a municipal entity organized and
existing under the laws of the State of Michigan.

20.  Collectively, Defendant City of Detroit and Defendant Detroit Citizens Board of
Review are referred to as the “Detroit Defendants.”

Jurisdiction and Venue

21.  This court has jurisdiction over this suit brought under the Fair Housing Act, 42
USC 3601-3619; the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution; Article I, Section

17 of the Michigan Constitution; and 42 USC 1983.



22.  Venue is proper in this court in that Defendant Wayne County, Defendant City of
Detroit, and Defendant Detroit Citizens Board of Review are political subdivisions of the State
of Michigan; Defendant Eric Sabree is an official of a political subdivision of the State of
Michigan sued in his official capacity; all individual Plaintiffs named herein reside within the
County of Wayne, in the State of Michigan; and all association Plaintiffs named herein primarily
operate within the County of Wayne, in the State of Michigan.

23.  The injuries claimed by Plaintiffs named herein occurred and continue to occur in
the County of Wayne, in the State of Michigan.

Statement of Facts

L There Is an Extensive History of Housing Discrimination Against African
Americans in Detroit.

24.  Unfortunately, this is not the first time people of color have faced discriminatory
housing policies in Detroit. Indeed, a shameful pattern of housing discrimination pervades
Detroit’s modern history.'

25.  Inthe 1930s, the federal government, through the Federal Housing Administration
and the Home-Owners Loan Corporation, discriminated against African Americans by granting
low-interest loans and mortgages to white homeowners only. The federal government
encouraged the use of racially restrictive covenants and, in one case, refused to make loansto a
developer for a housing development project unless he built a six-foot high wall to separate his
property from property owned by African Americans.

26. By the 1940s, 80% of property in Detroit outside of the inner city was subject to
racial covenants, which white residents established neighborhood associations to enforce. In

1945, after a middle-class African-American couple, Orsel and Minnie McGhee, purchased a

! Much of the history recounted in this complaint is documented in the seminal book Sugrue, The Origins of the
Urban Crisis: Race and Inequality in Postwar Detroit (Princeton, N.J.: Princeton University Press, 2005).
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home in an all-white Detroit neighborhood, white neighbors sued to enforce the racial covenant.
The Wayne County Circuit Court ruled that the covenant forbade the McGhees from owning
property in that neighborhood. In the 1947 case in which the United States Supreme Court held
that racially restrictive covenants violated the Equal Protection Clause, twenty-five Detroit
homeowner associations filed an amicus brief in support of the white homeowners seeking to
uphold the restrictive covenants.

27.  Despite the 1947 Supreme Court ruling outlawing racially restrictive covenants,
real estate agents, developers, banks, and neighborhood associations acted in ways that continued
to enforce racial segregation. Real estate agents refused to show African Americans homes in
all-white neighborhoods, and banks refused to award African Americans conventional
mortgages. Contractors found it impossible to get financial backing to construct homes for
African Americans in white neighborhoods. A citywide association of homeowner groups called
the Federated Property Homeowners of Detroit created a network to monitor the selling of homes
to African Americans and harassed real estate brokers who sold homes to African Americans.

28.  Throughout the 1950s and 1960s, many landlords openly refused to rent to
African Americans, and those who would rent to people of color often charged 20-40% more
than they charged whites. The government in Detroit enforced racially segregated public
housing, and Mayor Albert Cobo used his veto power to stunt integration and public housing
sites in white areas of the city.

29.  Throughout Detroit’s history, white homeowners frequently greeted African
Americans who attempted to move into white neighborhoods with violence that forced them to
leave. For example, when an African-American physician named Ossian Sweet and his family

moved into an all-white neighborhood in 1925, an angry mob of several hundred white neighbors



attacked their home.” In 1942, a mob of over 1000 whites — many of them armed members of
the Ku Klux Klan — vowed to prevent African Americans from entering into a segregated,
African-American housing development because it was too close to a white neighborhood.
Thousands of police officers and National Guardsmen were called in to prevent a major riot.
Between the mid-1950s and mid-1960s, there were over 200 recorded acts of white neighbors
harassing or committing violence against African-American “pioneers” attempting to integrate
white neighborhoods, including the staging of mass protests, breaking windows with bricks and
other items, throwing paint on houses, burning effigies and crosses, and physically attacking
African-American homeowners.

30. In 1967, African Americans rebelled in the streets of Detroit in response to
systemic police abuse and other forms of bias, including housing and job discrimination.
Following this civil disturbance, there was a large exodus of white Detroit residents to the
suburbs, commonly called “white flight.”

31.  Even after white flight, African-American residents of Detroit had tremendous
difficulty obtaining mortgages due to “redlining,” the practice of denying services based on the
racial makeup of the neighborhood. Additionally, real-estate agents continued to steer
prospective African-American home buyers away from predominantly white neighborhoods into
lower-priced, predominantly black areas of the city.

32.  Inthe 1990s and early 2000s, certain banks and mortgage companies that had
previously engaged in redlining in Detroit started a practice called “reverse redlining.”
Motivated by the billions of dollars being made on Wall Street in the mortgage-backed securities

market, lenders began targeting African-American communities in Detroit where credit was

? See Boyle, Arc of Justice: A Saga of Race, Civil Rights and Murder in the Jazz Age (New York: Henry Holt &
Company, 2004).
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traditionally unavailable and pushing the sale of high-interest, high-risk, subprime mortgages. In
contrast to mortgages offered to white homeowners in the suburbs, unsavory salespeople pushed
Detroiters into mortgages knowing full well that the mortgagees would not be able to afford the
balloon payment when it became due. When the bubble in the real estate market burst in 2008,
tens of thousands of Detroit homeowners were forced into mortgage foreclosure. Reverse
redlining had a disparate impact on African Americans and devastated countless previously
stable neighborhoods in Detroit.

1L Wayne County Is in the Midst of a Tax Foreclosure Crisis.

33.  The African-American residents of Wayne County, particularly in Detroit, are
now facing another crisis, this time from tax foreclosures. Homeowners in Wayne County, like
all Michigan property owners, must pay property taxes in amounts based on municipal
assessments of property values. If a homeowner does not pay those property taxes, the home is
subject to foreclosure and sale at auction by the Wayne County Defendants.

34.  Property values in Wayne County generally, and in the City of Detroit
particularly, have dropped precipitously since the 2008 financial crisis. Due to the collapse of
the home-mortgage market, many residents of Wayne County have seen their home values drop
by more than 80 percent.

35. At the same time, properties in the county have been systematically over-assessed
by some municipalities, leading those municipalities to levy inflated property taxes on county

homeowners.* Defendant Wayne County Treasurer has acknowledged that Detroit and other

} See, e.g., Adkins v Morgan Stanley, Civil Action No 1:12-cv-07667 (SDNY), documents available at
<https://www.aclu.org/cases/racial-equality/adkins-et-al-vs-morgan-stanley>.

* E.g., 2015 Wayne County tax foreclosure auction ends, but a vicious cycle continues, Michigan Radio (October 23,
2015), <http://michiganradio.org/post/2015-wayne-county-tax-foreclosure-auction-ends-vicious-cycle-
continues#stream/0>,
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Wayne County cities “didn’t keep up with their assessments,” which “didn’t reflect the true
market value.”

36.  The most egregious over-assessment problem exists in the City of Detroit.

Detroit city officials have acknowledged the systematic over-assessment of Detroit homes. For
example, in 2015, Detroit Mayor Mike Duggan told the press, “For years homes across the city
have been over-assessed.”

37.  Until last year, the City of Detroit had not conducted a city-wide reassessment for
fifty years. While reassessments have recently begun, they will not be complete until late 2016
at the earliest.” Meanwhile, homeowners continue to be charged property taxes based on
inaccurate assessments and are then foreclosed upon if they cannot pay.

38.  Inrecent years, the tax bills have grown even larger as many municipalities,
including the City of Detroit, have begun adding water liens to the property tax debts certified to
Defendant Wayne County for foreclosure, including the property tax debts for at least one named
individual Plaintiff. Because of a series of poor financial investments by the City (and other
reasons), water bills in Detroit have skyrocketed in recent years, leaving many homeowners
unable to pay. The homeowners often face the dual challenge of a water shutoff in the short term
— with hefty fees for reconnection —eventually followed by a tax foreclosure based in part on
the unfairly high water bill. Bankruptcy Judge Steven P. Rhodes has noted that the harms from

water shutoffs “may include a host of serious and even life-threatening medical conditions, as

* Eric Sabree Interview on Stand Up Detroit!, WMKM 1440 AM (May 12, 2015), available at Understanding the
Foreclosure difference Between Wayne County and the City of Detroit <https://www.youtube.com/
watch?v=VVADzh4OWql> (accessed July 11, 2016).
S AlHajal, Detroit property tax assessments to decline as 62,000 properties face foreclosure, MLive (January 28,
2015) <http://www.mlive.com/news/detroit/index.ssf/2015/01/detroit_property tax_assessmen.html>.

" E.g., 2015 Wayne County tax foreclosure auction ends, <http://michiganradio.org/post/2015-wayne-county-tax-
foreclosure-auction-ends-vicious-cycle-continues#stream/0>.
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well as adverse consequences in employment, in personal and family relations, and for children,
at school. Water is necessary to sustain life.”®

39.  The over-assessments of property values leave thousands of African-American
residents, particularly in Detroit, with exorbitantly high property taxes. For Detroit homeowners,
the difficulty of paying these property tax amounts is frequently exacerbated by other hardships.
According to data collected by the United Way of Southeastern Michigan, more than 80% of
Detroit homeowners facing tax foreclosure in 2015 had faced a hardship in the prior year —
including medical problems, divorce, job loss, or a family death — and 36% met federal poverty
levels.”

40.  For many Wayne County residents, inflated property tax bills result in the loss of
their homes through tax-foreclosure sales. In the 2014 Wayne County tax foreclosure auction,
6,000 occupied homes were sold.'® The number of occupied homes sold in the 2015 auction —
which included a record-high number of properties — climbed to 8,000."

41.  This year, Defendant Wayne County Treasurer sent out 38,000 foreclosure notices
for back taxes from 2013 or earlier, as 2016 is the last year by which 2013 taxes must be paid in
order to avoid foreclosure. Half of these, around 20,000, were for tax bills that were less than

$3,000; about 5,500 homeowners owed less than $2,000; and 650 owed less than $500. While

Defendant Wayne County Treasurer has stated that the Wayne County Treasurer’s Office is

8 Lyda v City of Detroit, unpublished order of the Bankruptcy Court for the Eastern District of Michigan, issued
November 19, 2014 (Docket No. 13-53846), available at <htip://voiceofdetroit.net/wp-content/uploads/Rhodes-
order-on-water-shutoffs.pdf>.

® Kurth & MacDonald, Detroit braces for a flood of tax foreclosures, Detroit News (July 1, 2015), <http:/
www_detroitnews.com/story/news/special-reports/2015/07/01/detroit-braces-flood-tax-foreciosures/29589915/ >.
1% perkins, Are real estate investors from Oakland County to Hong Kong driving Detroit’s blight?, Metro Times
(May 4, 2016), <http://www.metrotimes.com/detroit/are-real-estate-investors-from-oakland-county-to-hong-kong-
driving-detroits-blight/Content?0id=2441828>.

' Detroit official to unveil property assessment changes, Detroit News (January 29, 2016), <http://
www.detroitnews.com/story/news/local/detroit-city/2016/01/29/detroit-officials-unveil-property-assessment-
changes/79545144/>.
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trying to alert homeowners with smaller tax bills to enter payment plans to stave off foreclosure
sale, he has estimated that 20,000 properties are still likely to be auctioned this year. 12
III.  Under the Michigan Property Tax Assessment and Foreclosure Process, Counties

Review Assessments by Municipal Assessors and Foreclose on Properties with
Unpaid Taxes.

42.  In Michigan, the taxes on a particular property must be determined by reference to
the price at which a property could be sold on the open market, which is called the “True Cash
Value.” Michigan governmental entities use 50% of the estimated True Cash Value of the
property, rather than an estimate of the full True Cash Value, as the assessed value for purposes
of property tax calculations.

43.  Michigan law requires cities and townships to assess property values annually.
MCL 211.10(1). Each year, the municipal assessor’s office, including the assessor for Defendant
City of Detroit, creates an assessment roll that contains an estimate of 50% of the True Cash
Value for each piece of real property liable to be taxed in the jurisdiction. MCL 211.24.

44.  For residential properties, an assessor typically determines the True Cash Value
using the comparable sales or market approach. Under this approach, the assessor looks at sales
that occurred in the area during the preceding year and adjusts the estimated True Cash Value of
a home based on increases or decreases in the sales prices of other properties in the
neighborhood.

45.  The county board of commissioners, including the board for Defendant Wayne
County, reviews the municipal assessment roll and can adjust for municipality-wide errors. The

county board of commissioners then certifies the assessment roll. MCL 211.34(2). In 2013, the

12 Real estate investors, <http://www.metrotimes.com/detroit/are-real-estate-investors-from-oakland-county-to-
hong-kong-driving-detroits-blight/Content?0id=2441828>.
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year upon which 2016 foreclosures are based, Defendant Wayne County certified the estimated
values of all residential properties in the county as accurate, without any adjustment.

46.  Additional adjustments to the assessment roll can then made by the State. Like
the County’s adjustments, these are designed to ensure a consistent approach to assessment
across the entire state.

47.  After the County’s and State’s adjustments are made, the final estimate of 50% of
the True Cash Value of a property is called the State Equalized Value and becomes the basis for
the property taxes actually levied on homeowners. Due to tax reduction measures like the
Headlee Amendment and Proposition A, a property owner’s taxes are sometimes capped at a
value lower than the State Equalized Value.

48.  If a homeowner does not pay the property taxes owed, municipalities turn over the
right to collect those delinquent taxes to counties, including the Wayne County Defendants.
MCL 211.78a(2). If the taxes remain unpaid, the counties can foreclose on and then auction off
the delinquent properties, subjecting the prior homeowners to eviction. MCL 211.78k(5).

49.  In spring 2016, the Wayne County Defendants foreclosed upon properties in the
county based on delinquent taxes from 2013 or earlier. The 2016 foreclosures are scheduled to
be sold at auction beginning in September 2016, likely resulting in homeowners being forced to
move out of the foreclosed homes.

IV.  The City of Detroit Has Systemically Over-Assessed Residential Property Values,
Leading to the Imposition of Illegally Inflated Property Taxes on Detroit Residents.

50.  The City of Detroit has, for years, failed to conduct proper annual assessments of
property values, in direct violation of Michigan law. Instead of conducting annual assessments

or properly updating prior years’ assessments with data on recent property sales, the City of
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Detroit has compiled assessment rolls with estimated values bearing no relationship to the actual
True Cash Value of properties within the municipality.

51.  Although the True Cash Values of properties in Detroit have fallen precipitously
since the financial crisis in 2008, the City of Detroit’s assessed values have not declined
proportionally. Thus, the City of Detroit assesses property taxes based on State Equalized
Values that do not reflect the actual True Cash Value of Detroit properties.

52.  Asaresult of this discrepancy, the property tax assessed by the City of Detroit is
often based on a false, inflated property value, which in turn means that a property owner’s tax
bill will be much higher than if the City of Detroit conducted a proper assessment as required by
Michigan law.

53.  Expert analysis of the City of Detroit’s State Equalized Values and reported sales
prices for the 2010 tax year shows that the State Equalized Values were consistently more than
the required 50% of the 2009 reported sales price.

54.  The analysis found an average State Equalized Value of $28,060 and an average
reported sales price of $12,667. Using the reported sales price as a benchmark of the actual True
Cash Value, the average State Equalized Value should have been approximately $6,334. The
result of this discrepancy was an average property tax bill that was more than four times greater
than it should have been.

55.  Further, property owners with the lowest valued properties (the lowest fifth of all
sales) had an average State Equalized Value more than 24 times higher than it would have been
if based on the actual True Cash Value, as required by law.

56.  Discrepancies between State Equalized Value and the actual True Cash Value

have important implications for individual property tax bills, as demonstrated by two example
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Detroit properties. One property in Detroit, for example, had an actual True Cash Value of
$1,700, and the other had an actual True Cash Value of $37,000. If Detroit assessors had
assessed properties at 50% of the actual True Cash Value, as state law requires, the $1,700 home
would have a State Equalized Value of $850 and the $37,000 home would have a State
Equalized Value of $18,500. Based on these State Equalized Values, the estimated tax bill for
the $1,700 property would have been $72 and the estimated tax bill for the $37,000 property
would have been $1,562. Instead, these properties were assigned inflated State Equalized Values
resulting in actual tax bills of $1,367 for the $1,700 home and of $2,272 for the $37,000 home.
That is, the tax bill for the $1,700 home for a single year was equal to more than 80% of the
actual True Cash Value of the home. The actual tax bill for the $1,700 home exceeded the
amount of the proper tax bill for a properly assessed $37,000 home.

57.  The City of Detroit employed deficient assessment practices that led to
discrepancies between True Cash Value and assessed values through at least 2013. In July 2015,
the Detroit News reported that, as of 2013, Defendant City of Detroit “was over-assessing homes
by an average of 65 percent.”!*

58.  Expert analysis of statistics reported by the State Tax Commission, as compared
to residential property sale prices reported by CoreLogic, a well-regarded private data analysis
firm, demonstrates that the City of Detroit’s estimate of the True Cash Values of Detroit
properties, and thus the State Equalized Values, were higher than actual sale prices in 2013. In
2013, the average estimate of True Cash Value by the Detroit assessor was about $14,000 more
than the average sale price reported by CoreLogic, meaning that the average Detroit

homeowner’s property tax bill was almost twice as much as it should have been.

" Detroit braces for a flood of tax foreclosures, <http://www.detroitnews.com/story/news/special-reports/2015/07/
01/detroit-braces-flood-tax-foreclosures/29589915/ >
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59.  Additionally, between 2008 and 2013, the average sales price reported by
CoreLogic for Detroit residential properties dropped from around $75,000 to $15,000, an 80%
decrease. In contrast, the average estimated True Cash Value from the Detroit assessor dropped
from about $57,000 to 29,000, a decrease of only 50%. This further suggests that the City of
Detroit’s assessors were not following changes in the Detroit housing market closely enough,
resulting in assessment inaccuracy and inequality.

60. Indeed, assessment inaccuracy in the City of Detroit is exacerbated by the rapid
deterioration of the Detroit housing market, including the rapid decline in property values and
the high number of irregular sales. The Detroit assessor classifies many of these sales as
“distressed” and therefore not suitable to be used as comparable sales for the purpose of
assessment. Expert analysis of a sales study undertaken by the Detroit assessor to provide the
basis for adjusting assessed values for the 2013 tax year shows that the assessor considered only
684 of the City’s 12,118 home sales, or 5.6% percent of total home sales, from October 2011 to
September 2012. This is a much lower percentage than cities in surrounding counties, such as
Hazel Park, Pontiac, and Ferndale, which had assessments based on 15%, 16.5%, and 30% of
sales, respectively.

61.  The observed level of assessment inaccuracy in the City of Detroit is not
surprising given that staffing reductions have hindered the ability of assessors to make the proper
adjustments to property values. Recent budget cuts have decreased the assessment division’s
staff from 90 employees in the late 1990s to 36 employees in 2012. Detroit’s Chief Assessor,
Linda Bade, has asserted that “workers do their best under tough conditions,” but the resulting

over-assessments show that the understaffing has dire consequences for many Detroiters.'*

'* MacDonald, Property values, taxes often in error, Detroit News (February 22, 2013).
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62.  In short, expert analysis of assessment data from 2010 demonstrates that
residential properties in Detroit were significantly over-assessed and that the largest
discrepancies occurred among the lowest valued properties. By 2013, some degree of the over-
assessment in Detroit had diminished, but the average Detroit homeowner’s property tax bill was
still about twice as much as it should have been.

63.  Several other Wayne County municipalities produced similarly flawed and
unlawfully high assessments of property value, resulting in severe over-assessment of property
taxes.

V. The Wayne County Defendants Have Foreclosed on Residential Properties Based on
the Nonpayment of Illegally Inflated Property Taxes.

64.  The Wayne County Defendants are responsible for conducting foreclosures of all
properties in Wayne County with unpaid tax bills.

65.  The Wayne County Defendants foreclose on properties regardless of the fact that
many of the homes are over-assessed and over-taxed in violation of Michigan state law.
Defendant Eric Sabree, while serving as Wayne County Deputy Treasurer of Land Management,
stated in 2015 that the Wayne County Treasurer’s office forecloses on homes despite the fact that
it knows the cities “didn’t keep up with the property value” and “didn’t keep up with their
assessments.”"’

66.  Asaresult of the Wayne County Defendants’ actions, Plaintiffs and thousands of

other homeowners, the great majority of whom are African-American, have lost and will lose

their homes on the basis of illegal taxes premised on inflated estimates of their True Cash Value.

5 Sabree Interview, available at <https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=VVADzh40OWqL>.
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67.  The Wayne County Defendants should have verified that the estimates of 50% of
True Cash Value of homes in Wayne County — which were rubber-stamped and certified by the
county board of commissioners — were assessed according to Michigan law prior to foreclosure.

68.  Although Defendant Wayne County Treasurer has stated that he has worked to
avoid foreclosures by encouraging homeowners to enter into payment plans, this is an ineffective
stopgap measure. For homeowners whose homes are over-assessed, the payment plans do little
to protect them, as the residence is not properly reassessed when the homeowner agrees to a
payment plan.

69.  Many payment plans require the homeowner to pay 60% of the tax debt, plus
interest and fees within a few months of entering the plan. For a homeowner whose tax debt was
based on an illegal over-assessment, this payment may be larger than the accurate tax debt on the
property. Taking the example $1,700 property from paragraph 56 above, due to the over-
assessment, the homeowner who should have initially owed $72 would owe $2,129.80 once
interest, penalties, and fees are added to his over-assessed taxes. To even enter a payment plan,
the homeowner would have to pay 60% of that amount, or $1,277.88. And if the homeowner is
unable to keep up with his payments, his home is still be at risk of foreclosure and sale.

70.  Furthermore, many homeowners cannot afford the payment plans. Not
surprisingly, a significant percentage of the homeowners who entered into payment plans in 2015
to avoid foreclosure have already defaulted on those payment plans.

71.  The Wayne County Defendants have no substantial legitimate interest in a
foreclosure process in which many of the homes are foreclosed upon for tax debts based on
unlawful over-assessments. Further, the illegal disparate impact on African Americans in Wayne

County would be eliminated if, prior to foreclosure, the Wayne County Defendants confirmed
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with the county’s municipalities that the homes with property tax debts had been subject to a
meaningful annual assessment, as required by Michigan law, and that the taxes charged were
based on an accurate estimate of the True Cash Value of the homes.

VI. The Wayne County Defendants’ Foreclosures Have a Disparate Impact on African-
American Homeowners.

72.  The conduct of the Wayne County Defendants in conducting the foreclosure sale
process causes a disparate impact on African-American homeowners in the county. Owner-
occupied homes in Census blocks in Wayne County where at least a majority of homeowners are
African-American are more likely to be at risk of a tax foreclosure sale than owner-occupied
homes in Census blocks in the county where a majority of homeowners are non-African-
American.

73.  Based on an expert analysis of publicly available data, in Census blocks in Wayne
County where a majority of the homeowners are African-American, 4.81% of owner-occupied
homes were at risk of tax foreclosure sale as of February 16, 2016, as compared to only 0.48% of
owner-occupied homes in Census blocks in the county where a majority of homeowners are non-
African-American. Thus, owner-occupied homes in majority African-American Census blocks
are 10 times more likely to be at risk of a tax foreclosure sale than other Census blocks. This
disparity in risk of foreclosure sale for homeowners in majority-African-American Census
blocks as compared to homeowners in majority-non-African-American Census blocks is
statistically significant at the 99% level.'®

74.  Based on an expert analysis of publicly available data, in Census blocks in Wayne

County where 100% of homeowners are African American, 5.18% of owner-occupied homes

'® An observed outcome is considered “statistically significant” when there is a high probability that the outcome is
not the result of random chance. Thus, if an observed outcome is statistically significant at the 99% level, this
means there is less than a 1% chance that the observed outcome is the result of random chance.
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were at risk of tax foreclosure sale as of February 16, 2016. In Census blocks in the county
where 100% of homeowners are non-African American, only 0.39% of owner-occupied homes
are at risk of a tax foreclosure sale. Thus, owner-occupied homes in Census blocks in the county
where 100% of homeowners are African-American are 13.4 times more likely to be at risk of a
tax foreclosure sale than owner-occupied homes in Census blocks where 100% of homeowners
are non-African-American. This disparity in risk of foreclosure sale between homeowners in
100% African-American Census blocks as compared to homeowners in 100% non-African-
American Census blocks is statistically significant at the 99% level.

VII. The Named Individual Plaintiffs and Associational Plaintiffs Have Been and Will
Continue to Be Harmed by the Wayne County Defendants’ Foreclosures.

A. Walter Hicks

75.  Plaintiff Walter Hicks is a 57-year-old African-American resident of Wayne
County and Detroit, Michigan.

76.  Mr. Hicks has been on disability since 2009 due to a severe back injury.

77.  Mr. Hicks owns and occupies his home as his principal residence.

78.  Mr. Hicks purchased his home in January 2012.

79.  Based on Defendant City of Detroit’s assessment, the State Equalized Value of
Mr. Hicks’s home in 2013 was $20,078. This State Equalized Value corresponds to a True Cash
Value estimate of $40,156.

80.  The actual True Cash Value of Mr. Hicks’s home in 2013, based on an appraisal
of its fair-market value, was $9,000.

81.  Defendant City of Detroit over-assessed the value of Mr. Hicks’s home for the

2013 tax year by $31,156.
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82.  In 2013, Defendant City of Detroit levied property taxes of $1,681.31 on Mr.
Hicks’s home based on the over-assessed State Equalized Value. Mr. Hicks was unable to pay
that amount. Mr. Hicks has made small payments on his taxes.

83.  As of the date of this filing, Mr. Hicks owes $1,866.63 for unpaid property taxes
from tax year 2013 and earlier. Mr. Hicks is unable to pay that amount.

84.  Mr. Hicks is on a Distressed Owner Occupant Extension (“DOOE”) payment plan
that requires him to pay all of his 2013 taxes including fees, penalties, and interest by December
16, 2016. The City requested he pay $339 each month. Mr. Hicks cannot afford this monthly
payment.

85.  Mr. Hicks’s home is subject to tax foreclosure by the Wayne County Defendants.

B. Spirlin Moore

86.  Plaintiff Spirlin Moore is a 77-year-old African-American resident of Wayne
County and Detroit, Michigan.

87.  Mr. Moore is almost completely deaf and is illiterate. He also suffers from a
number of health problems. Because of this, he regularly relies on a caretaker to assist him. He
moved from Alabama to Detroit in the early 1960s.

88.  Mr. Moore owns and occupies his home as his principal residence.

89.  Mr. Moore has lived in his home since 1997 when he began renting it. Mr. Moore
entered into a land contract agreement to purchase the home in August 2007. Mr. Moore paid
off the land contract in March 2010, and he now holds title to his home.

90.  Based on Defendant City of Detroit’s assessment, the State Equalized Value of
Mr. Moore’s home in 2013 was $11,466. This State Equalized Value corresponds to a True

Cash Value estimate of $22,932.
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91.  The value of Mr. Moore’s home in 2013, based on an appraisal of the home’s fair-
market value, was $2,000.

92.  Defendant City of Detroit over-assessed the value of Mr. Moore’s home for the
2013 tax year by $20,932.

93.  In 2013, Defendant City of Detroit levied property taxes of $2,023 on Mr.
Moore’s home based on the over-assessed State Equalized Value. Mr. Moore was unable to pay
that amount.

94. Mr. Moore’s outstanding water bill was added to his taxes in 2011, 2012, and
2013. The portion of Mr. Moore’s 2013 tax bill attributable to this addition was approximately
$770.

95.  As of the date of this filing, Mr. Moore owes $5,705 for unpaid property taxes
from tax year 2013 and earlier. Mr. Moore is unable to pay that amount.

96.  Mr. Moore is on a payment plan that requires him to pay $144 in back taxes each
month. Mr. Moore cannot afford this monthly payment.

97.  Mr. Moore’s home is subject to tax foreclosure by the Wayne County Defendants.

C. Dewhannea Fox

98.  Plaintiff Dewhannea Fox is a 33-year-old African-American resident of Wayne
County and Detroit, Michigan.

99.  Ms. Fox owns and occupies her home as the principal residence of her, her
husband, and their two minor children.

100. Ms. Fox’s home is in Detroit’s MorningSide neighborhood. Ms. Fox serves as a

Director at Large for the MorningSide Community Organization.
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101. Based on Defendant City of Detroit’s assessment, the State Equalized Value of
Ms. Fox’s home in 2013 was $24,539. This State Equalized Value corresponds to a True Cash
Value of $47,078.

102. The actual True Cash Value of Ms. Fox’s home in 2013, based on an appraisal of
the home’s fair-market value, was $16,000.

103. Defendant City of Detroit over-assessed the value of Ms. Fox’s home for the 2013
tax year by $31,078.

104. In 2013, Defendant City of Detroit levied property taxes of $2,328 on Ms. Fox’s
home based on the over-assessed State Equalized Value. Ms. Fox was unable to pay that
amount.

105.  As of the date of this filing, Ms. Fox owes $5,249 for unpaid property taxes from
tax year 2013 and earlier. Ms. Fox is unable to pay that amount.

106. Ms. Fox’s home is subject to tax foreclosure by the Wayne County Defendants.

D. DeAunna Black

107. Plaintiff DeAunna Black is a 32-year-old African-American resident of Wayne
County and Detroit, Michigan.

108. Ms. Black works in cleaning services as the sole support of her family, despite
suffering from pain caused by injury from a 2012 car accident. Ms. Black was born and raised in
Detroit and has lived in Detroit through most of high school. After briefly moving to Georgia,
Ms. Black returned to Detroit in 2010.

109. Ms. Black owns and occupies her home as the principal residence of her and her
two minor children. Ms. Black is expecting her third child in August 2016.

110.  Ms. Black purchased her home in September 2013 for $3,500.
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111. Based on Defendant City of Detroit’s assessment, the State Equalized Value of
Ms. Black’s home in 2013 was $18,451. This State Equalized Value corresponds to a True Cash
Value estimate of $36,902.

112.  Ms. Black attempted to sell her home in 2016 for $13,000. She received no
offers.

113.  The actual True Cash Value of Ms. Black’s home in 2013, based on an appraisal
of the home’s fair-market value, was $5,000.

114. Defendant City of Detroit over-assessed the value of Ms. Black’s home for the
2013 tax year by $31,902.

115. In 2013, Defendant City of Detroit levied property taxes of $607 on Ms. Black’s
home based on the over-assessed State Equalized Value. Ms. Black was unable to pay that
amount.

116.  As of the date of this filing, Ms. Black owes $1,136.50 to Defendant City of
Detroit for unpaid property taxes from tax year 2013 and earlier. Ms. Black is unable to pay that
amount.

117. Ms. Black’s home is subject to tax foreclosure by the Wayne County Defendants.

E. Robert Lewis

118.  Plaintiff Robert Lewis is a 45-year-old African-American resident of Wayne
County and Detroit, Michigan.

119. Mr. Lewis has been a truck driver for over 25 years. In the last three years, Mr.
Lewis has been on short-term disability multiple times due to serious injuries requiring multiple
surgeries to his knee, shoulder, and neck. Mr. Lewis was born and raised in Detroit.

120. Mr. Lewis owns and occupies his home as his principal residence.

121.  Mr. Lewis’s home is in Detroit’s Russell Woods-Sullivan Historic District.
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122.  Mr. Lewis purchased his home in 2005 from his grandmother, who lived in the
home for almost 20 years.

123.  Although Mr. Lewis owns only one parcel of land on which his home stands,
Defendant City of Detroit has assigned Mr. Lewis two parcel identification numbers for his
home, Parcel ID 27072451 and Parcel ID 14004711. Defendant City of Detroit sends Mr. Lewis
a tax bill for each Parcel ID. Mr. Lewis has tried on multiple occasions to resolve this
discrepancy and has made payments on each Parcel ID.

124. Based on Defendant City of Detroit’s assessment under Parcel ID 14004711, the
State Equalized Value of Mr. Lewis’s home in 2013 was $23,920. This State Equalized Value
corresponds to a True Cash Value estimate of $47,840.

125. The actual True Cash Value of Lewis’s home in 2013, based on an appraisal of
the home’s fair-market value, was $17,000.

126. Defendant City of Detroit over-assessed the value of Mr. Lewis’s home for the
2013 tax year by $30,840.

127. In 2013, Defendant City of Detroit levied property taxes of $2,736 on Mr. Lewis’s
home based on the over-assessed State Equalized Value. Mr. Lewis was unable to pay that
amount.

128.  As of the date of this filing, Mr. Lewis owes $25,571 for unpaid property taxes
from tax year 2013 and earlier: $11,874 under Parcel ID 27072451; and $13,697 under Parcel ID
14004711. Mr. Lewis is unable to pay that amount.

129. Mr. Lewis received a foreclosure notice on Parcel ID 14004711 and Defendant
City of Detroit continues to demand payment for the outstanding balance on Parcel ID

27072451.
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130. Mr. Lewis’s home is subject to tax foreclosure on Parcel ID 14004711 by the
Wayne County Defendants.

F. MorningSide Community Organization

131.  Plaintiff MorningSide Community Organization is an incorporated voluntary
association made up of approximately 15,476 members who live in homes in the MorningSide
community, a neighborhood of approximately 5,500 homes located within the City of Detroit.

132.  MorningSide Community Organization was founded for the purpose of planning
and organizing volunteer efforts addressing issues of community concern, including prevention
of the deterioration of the neighborhood and promotion of a safe, healthful, and attractive
environment for resident families.

133.  Many members of MorningSide Community Organization are owner-occupiers of
homes within the MorningSide community.

134.  Most homes owned by MorningSide Community Organization members have
been over-assessed by Defendant City of Detroit, and many members’ homes have either been
sold at foreclosure auctions by the Wayne County Defendants or face imminent foreclosure sale.

135.  MorningSide Community Organization does regular cleanups around the
MorningSide community to care for and maintain properties that have become vacant due to tax
foreclosures. Expenses for these projects are paid out of MorningSide Community
Organization’s funds.

136. In 2015, MorningSide Community Organization spent approximately $1,500 and
1,720 man-hours on maintaining and improving homes that had been abandoned due to tax

foreclosures in an effort to stymie the effects of tax foreclosures in the MorningSide community.
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137. Approximately 1,187 foreclosure notices were issued against homes in the
MorningSide community for 2016. Currently, approximately 414 homes in MorningSide are at
risk of sale in the 2016 foreclosure auction.

138.  The members of MorningSide Community Organization meet once a month for
the purpose of addressing neighborhood issues. Since the start of 2016, MorningSide
Community Organization has devoted a portion of each monthly meeting to discussing ways to
address tax foreclosures affecting MorningSide Community Organization members.

139.  Therefore, the members of MorningSide Community Organization have a
significant and real interest in the matter being litigated, and that interest is germane to the
purposes for which MorningSide Community Organization was founded and operates. At least
one member of MorningSide Community Organization has standing, or would have standing, in
a civil action asserting this interest. MorningSide Community Organization brings this action on
behalf of the organization and its members.

G. Historic Russell Woods-Sullivan Area Association

140. Plaintiff Russell Woods-Sullivan Area Association is a voluntary association
made up of 104 members who live in homes in the Russell Woods-Sullivan Historic District
(“Russell Woods™), a neighborhood of approximately 1,100 homes located within the City of
Detroit. The City of Detroit designated Russell Woods as a historic district in 1999.

141.  Russell Woods-Sullivan Area Association was formed in 1958 with the purpose
of representing its members through civic engagement on matters of property maintenance and
issues affecting homeownership.

142. Many members of Russell Woods-Sullivan Area Association are owner-occupiers
of homes within Russell Woods.

143.  Approximately 96 percent of Russell Woods residents are African-American.
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144. Russell Woods has a rich history as a middle-class, African-American
neighborhood.

145. Russell Woods was platted in the 1920s, and many original deeds contained
racially discriminatory restrictive covenants limiting sale and occupancy of homes to Caucasians.
Homes in Russell Woods were owned and occupied predominately by white and Jewish families
until the late 1950s.

146.  The 1950s and 1960s saw an influx of African Americans into Russell Woods.
These residents were middle-class and professional African Americans who were attracted to
Russell Woods by the promise of homeownership and the security of living in a neighborhood of
civically engaged homeowners.

147. Russell Woods remains predominately African-American today. Many homes in
Russell Woods have been occupied by families for successive generations, and many current
residents have lived in their homes for over 50 years.

148. The 2008 mortgage crisis had a devastating effect on homeowners in Russell
Woods. In 2005, many homes in Russell Woods had fair market values in excess of $100,000;
by 2009, these homes had fair market values of less than $20,000.

149. Defendant City of Detroit’s assessed values for homes in Russell Woods do not
reflect the realities of the market, namely the depressed, post-mortgage-crisis home prices,
leading to excessive tax bills for residents of Russell Woods and members of Russell Woods-
Sullivan Area Association.

150. Most homes owned by Russell Woods-Sullivan Area Association members have
been over-assessed by the City, and many members’ homes have either been sold at foreclosure

auctions by the Wayne County Defendants or face imminent foreclosure sale.
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151. In both 2014 and 2015, more than 200 of the 1,100 homes in Russell Woods were
subject to tax foreclosure. These include homes owned by Russell Woods-Sullivan Area
Association members.

152. In 2015, Russell Woods-Sullivan Area Association petitioned the City of Detroit
and Wayne County to impose a moratorium on tax foreclosures for a period of one year to allow
for the development of a comprehensive solution to the over-assessment of and tax foreclosures
on homes in the City of Detroit.

153. In 2015, Russell Woods-Sullivan Area Association spent approximately $3,000
and 200 man-hours on efforts towards maintaining and improving homes that had been
abandoned due to tax foreclosures in an effort to stymie the effects of tax foreclosures in Russell
Woods.

154. There were approximately 320 foreclosure notices issued against homes in
Russell Woods for 2016. Currently, 49 occupied homes in Russell Woods are at risk of sale in
the 2016 foreclosure auction.

155. Therefore, the members of Russell Woods-Sullivan Area Association have a
significant and real interest in the matter being litigated, and that interest is germane to the
purposes for which Russell Woods-Sullivan Area Association was founded and operates. At
least one member of Russell Woods-Sullivan Area Association has standing, or would have
standing, in a civil action asserting this interest. Russell Woods-Sullivan Area Association
brings this action on behalf of the organization and its members.

H. Oakman Boulevard Community Association

156. Plaintiff Oakman Boulevard Community Association was founded in 1986. It is

an unincorporated voluntary association made up of approximately 100 dues-paying members
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who live in homes in the Oakman Boulevard community, an historic neighborhood of
approximately 600 homes located within the City of Detroit.

157.  Oakman Boulevard Community Association was founded for the purpose of
upholding the integrity and historical nature of the neighborhood, maintaining the
neighborhood’s aesthetic appeal, and keeping residents informed about neighborhood business.

158. Many members of Oakman Boulevard Community Association are owner-
occupiers of homes within the Oakman Boulevard community.

159. Most homes owned by Oakman Boulevard Community Association members
have been over-assessed by the City, and many members’ homes have either been sold at
foreclosure auctions by the Wayne County Defendants or face imminent foreclosure sale.

160. Approximately 910 foreclosure notices were issued against homes in the Oakman
Boulevard community for 2016. Currently, 183 occupied homes in the Oakman Boulevard
community are at risk of sale in the 2016 foreclosure auction.

161. The members of Oakman Boulevard Community Association meet once a month
for the purpose of addressing neighborhood issues. Since the start of 2016, Oakman Boulevard
Community Association has devoted a portion of each monthly meeting to discussing ways to
address tax foreclosures affecting Oakman Boulevard Community Association.

162.  Oakman Boulevard Community Association does regular cleanups around
Oakman to care for and maintain properties that have become vacant due to tax foreclosures.

163. Therefore, the members of Oakman Boulevard Community Association have a
significant and real interest in the matter being litigated, and that interest is germane to the
purposes for which Oakman Boulevard Community Association was founded and operates. At

least one member of Oakman Boulevard Community Association has standing, or would have
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standing, in a civil action asserting this interest. Oakman Boulevard Community Association
brings this action on behalf of the organization and its members.

I. Neighbors Building Brightmoor

164. Neighbors Building Brightmoor is an incorporated non-profit association of
residents of the Brightmoor community. Brightmoor is a neighborhood of approximately 3,300
homes located within the City of Detroit.

165. Neighbors Building Brightmoor was founded for the purpose of revitalizing the
Brightmoor community by a range of initiatives including a focus on blight reduction through
cleaning up trash, boarding up abandoned houses, and starting parks and gardens on vacant lots.

166. Neighbors Building Brightmoor has approximately 80 membership households.

167. Many members of Neighbors Building Brightmoor are owner-occupiers of homes
within Brightmoor.

168. Brightmoor was founded in 1922 as a suburban subdivision a mile away from
Detroit’s city limits. During the first two years after Brightmoor’s founding, developers targeted
sale of houses within its limits to white, working-class families. Developers even advertised the
racially exclusive nature of the community, promoting Brightmoor as 100 percent white
American. Homes in Brightmoor were owned and occupied predominately by white families
until the early 1980s.

169. The 1980s and 1990s saw an influx of African Americans into Brightmoor. These
residents were working- to lower-class African Americans who were attracted to Brightmoor by
its affordability and, for some, the promise of homeownership.

170.  Currently, residents in Brightmoor are approximately 90 percent African

American.
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171. Most homes owned by Neighbors Building Brightmoor members have been over-
assessed by the City, and many members’ homes have either been sold at foreclosure auctions by
the Wayne County Defendants or face imminent foreclosure sale.

172.  Approximately 1,138 foreclosure notices were issued against homes in
Brightmoor in 2016. Many of these homes currently stand vacant. Currently, approximately 216
occupied homes in Brightmoor are at risk of sale in the 2016 foreclosure auction.

173. The members of Neighbors Building Brightmoor meet once a month for the
purpose of addressing neighborhood issues. Neighbors Building Brightmoor has devoted a
portion of each monthly meeting to discussing ways to address tax foreclosures affecting
Neighbors Building Brightmoor members and the Brightmoor community.

174. Neighbors Building Brightmoor has collaborated with local organizations to
organize tax foreclosure prevention workshops in the Brightmoor community. Neighbors
Building Brightmoor does regular cleanups around Brightmoor to care for and maintain
properties that have become vacant due to tax foreclosures. Expenses for these projects are paid
out of Neighbors Building Brightmoor’s funds.

175.  Therefore, the members of Neighbors Building Brightmoor have a significant and
real interest in the matter being litigated, and that interest is germane to the purposes for which
Neighbors Building Brightmoor was founded and operates. At least one member of Neighbors
Building Brightmoor has standing, or would have standing, in a civil action asserting this
interest. Neighbors Building Brightmoor brings this action on behalf of the organization and its

members.
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VIII. State and Municipal Law Entitles Qualifying Detroit Residents to a Poverty
Exemption from Michigan Property Taxes.

176. Michigan state law requires municipalities to provide a property tax exemption to
homeowners who, by reason of poverty, are unable to pay property taxes. MCL 211.7u(1).

177. To receive the poverty exemption, a homeowner must own and occupy the
taxable property as his or her personal residence. MCL 21 1.7u(2)(a). An eligible homeowner
must file a request for an exemption every year and provide the current or prior year’s federal
and state income tax returns for all individuals residing in the home (or sign an affidavit attesting
that the resident is not required to file federal or state income taxes); a valid driver’s license or
other form of identification, if requested by the supervisor or board of review; and a deed, land
contract, or other evidence of ownership of the property, if requested by the supervisor or board
of review. MCL 211.7u(2)(b)-(d).

178.  All poverty exemption applications are reviewed and determined by the local
Board of Review.

179. Defendant City of Detroit provides a 100% poverty exemption from property
taxes for homeowners at or below its established poverty level, which is higher than the federal
poverty level. Defendant City of Detroit provides a 50% exemption for homeowners who make
a proportioned amount (currently $2,500) above its established poverty level.

180. The Detroit Defendants’ policy and guidelines for the poverty exemption are not
available online. The city assessor’s office will not mail a homeowner a copy of the poverty
exemption guidelines on request. A homeowner can only view copies of the guidelines in the
assessor’s office.

181.  Until this year, to obtain a poverty exemption in Detroit, a homeowner had to

complete a two-step application process. First, a homeowner was required to initiate the
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application process in person at the Coleman A. Young Municipal Center by submitting a
request form for a poverty application. The Detroit Defendants would then mail the homeowner
an application. Second, the homeowner had to complete and return the application to the Detroit
Defendants attaching supporting materials.

182.  The Detroit Defendants no longer require homeowners to complete the first step
of the former two-step process. Homeowners can now request an application over the phone and
the Detroit Defendants will mail an application to them. This change was only implemented
recently and affected only some applicants for the poverty exemption for the 2016 tax year.

183. In addition to the proof of income and assets that a homeowner must provide to
qualify for a poverty exemption under state law, the Detroit Defendants require applicants to
provide the report cards of every minor child in the household, to provide a Detroit reference,
and to have the application notarized.

184. Some homeowners who request a poverty exemption application never receive
one. '

185. Homeowners who request a poverty exemption application regularly receive an
application via mail just days before the application deadline, leaving insufficient time for
applicants to prepare supporting materials.

186. Homeowners who request a poverty exemption application regularly receive an
application via mail bearing a return date that has already passed.

187.  The Detroit Defendants have a policy or practice of imposing additional

requirements on poverty exemption applicants that exceed the criteria printed on the application

guidelines, and of denying applications for failing to meet those additional requirements.
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188. The Detroit Defendants have a policy or practice of failing to inform poverty
exemption applicants when their applications have been denied.

189. The Detroit Defendants have a policy or practice of issuing vague denial letters
that fail to identify the reasons an applicant’s poverty exemption application was denied.

IX. The Named Individual Plaintiffs Have Been Harmed by the Detroit Defendants’
Poverty Exemption Policies, and Similar Harm Is Foreseeable in Future Years.

A. Walter Hicks

190. Walter Hicks is a 57-year-old resident of Detroit, Michigan.

191. Mr. Hicks owns and occupies his home as his principal residence.

192.  Mr. Hicks’s annual income is approximately $15,324 from social security
disability benefits and food assistance. Mr. Hick’s annual income places him below the federal
poverty level and the poverty level set by Defendant City of Detroit.

193.  Mr. Hicks is unable to pay his property taxes by reason of his poverty.

194. Under Michigan state law and Defendant City of Detroit’s policy, Mr. Hicks is
entitled to a 100% exemption from property taxes due to poverty.

195. In 2012, Mr. Hicks applied for a poverty exemption from the Detroit Defendants.
He waited several months, and received another tax bill, but he never received a letter of
approval or denial of his poverty exemption application. Because he had not received an answer,
Mr. Hicks inquired as to the status of his application in person, and a representative of the
Detroit Defendants told him that his application had been denied but did not provide a reason.

196. Physically going to the Coleman A. Young Municipal Center, once to apply for a
poverty exemption application and again to inquire as to the status of the application, was
difficult for Mr. Hicks because he does not own a vehicle and must rely on friends to drive him

downtown. When friends are unavailable or Mr. Hicks has an urgent matter that requires a
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prompt trip to the Municipal Center, he is forced to take two or three buses and walk almost a
mile, which causes him a lot of back pain. By bus, the travel takes over an hour.

197. Because of his frustration from his 2012 application, Mr. Hicks did not apply for a
poverty exemption in 2013.

198. In 2014, Mr. Hicks went to the Municipal Center to request that an application for
a poverty exemption be mailed to him.

199. At the Municipal Center, Mr. Hicks was required to pull a number and wait 30
minutes before he could speak to someone about requesting the poverty exemption application.
The waiting aggravated Mr. Hick’s back injury. Mr. Hicks completed the request to receive a
poverty exemption application by mail.

200. Mr. Hicks received the poverty exemption application in the mail only four days
before the deadline for returning the completed application.

201. Mr. Hicks completed the poverty exemption application and returned it to the
Detroit Defendants. Mr. Hicks waited two months for a response from the Detroit Defendants.
Because he had not received an answer, he inquired as to the status of his application in person,
and a representative of the Detroit Defendants told him that his application had been denied.

202.  After Mr. Hicks asked the reason for his denial, the representative informed him
that the Board of Review denied his application for a poverty exemption because he owned
another property. Mr. Hicks owns only one property — his principal residence. To prove this,
Mr. Hicks obtained from the Register of Deeds at his own expense a copy of the deed to the
second property that the City alleged he owned. The deed proved that another individual with

the same first and last name as Mr. Hicks, but with a different middle name, owned the other
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property. However, after providing proof of this fact to the Detroit Defendants, they stated that
Mr. Hicks’s application for a poverty exemption would remain denied.

203. The Detroit Defendants’ denial of Mr. Hicks’s application for a poverty
exemption in 2014 was arbitrary and capricious.

204. Itis likely that Mr. Hicks’s income will fall below the poverty line in future tax
years, and he will again apply for the poverty exemption. Absent intervention by the Court, it is
likely that he will encounter a similarly arbitrary and capricious denial of the exemption.

B. Spirlin Moore

205.  Spirlin Moore is a 77-year-old resident of Detroit, Michigan.

206. Mr. Moore owns and occupies his home as his principal residence.

207. Because Mr. Moore is almost completely deaf, has many health ailments, and is
illiterate, he is reliant on his caregiver Trece Andrews.

208. Mr. Moore has relied on social security disability as his income since the late
1990s. His annual income is approximately $9,500 from social security disability and food
assistance. Mr. Moore’s annual income places him below the federal poverty level and the
poverty level set by the City of Detroit.

209.  Mr. Moore is unable to pay his property taxes by reason of his poverty.

210.  Under Michigan state law and Defendant City of Detroit’s policy, Mr. Moore is
entitled to a 100% exemption from property taxes due to poverty.

211.  The Detroit Defendants granted Mr. Moore a poverty exemption from his
property taxes for the 2015 and 2016 tax years.

212, In 2011, Ms. Andrews drove Mr. Moore downtown to the Coleman A. Young
Municipal Center to request a poverty exemption application. Ms. Andrews helped Mr. Moore

complete the request for a poverty exemption application.
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213.  Mr. Moore received the application in the mail with only a few days before the
deadline. Ms. Andrews helped Mr. Moore submit the application and extensive supporting
documentation before the deadline. Mr. Moore then received a letter denying his application
because it was “incomplete,” but the letter did not identify what was missing from the
application. Ms. Andrews called the Detroit Defendants and was told by a representative that the
application was missing a bank statement. Mr. Moore was not given the opportunity to
supplement the application with the missing bank statement.

214. Ms. Andrews attempted to help Mr. Moore apply for the poverty exemption again
in 2012, 2013, and 2014. Each time, they were required to travel downtown and wait for up to
two hours to complete a request for the poverty exemption application. Each year the application
would be mailed only days before the deadline, leaving Mr. Moore and Ms. Andrews inadequate
time to gather the numerous required documents.

215.  Mr. Moore applied for the poverty exemption in 2012, 2013, and 2014, but he was
unable to collect all the required documents due to the late arrival of the application. Mr.
Moore’s applications were denied in each of those years based on inadequate supporting
documentation. He was not given the opportunity to supplement his applications with the
missing documents.

216.  The Detroit Defendants, in effect, improperly denied Mr. Moore a poverty
exemption in 2013 and 2014.

217.  The Detroit Defendants’ denial of Mr. Moore’s application for a poverty

exemption in 2013 and 2014 was arbitrary and capricious.
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218. Itis likely that Mr. Moore’s income will fall below the poverty line in future tax
years, and he will again apply for the poverty exemption. Absent intervention by the Court, it is
likely that he will encounter a similarly arbitrary and capricious denial of the exemption.

C. Julia Aikens

219. Julia Aikens is a 67-year-old resident of Detroit.

220. Ms. Aikens moved to Detroit from Georgia in 1969. She worked as a medical
assistant in a nursing home from 1979 until 1999 when she was injured. Ms. Aikens has been on
disability since 1999.

221. Ms. Aikens owns and occupies her home as her principal residence.

222.  Ms. Aikens has received disability since 1999. Ms. Aikens’s annual income is
approximately $12,900 from social security and food assistance. Ms. Aikens’s annual income
places her below the federal poverty level and the poverty level set by the City of Detroit.

223. Ms. Aikens is unable to pay her property taxes by reason of her poverty.

224. Under Michigan state law and Defendant City of Detroit’s policy, Ms. Aikens is
entitled to a 100% exemption from property taxes due to poverty.

225. In 2014, Ms. Aikens attempted to apply in person for a poverty exemption. A
representative of the Detroit Defendants turned Ms. Aikens away and informed her that she was
not eligible for a poverty exemption until she had lived in her home for at least one year. The
poverty exemption application does not include a requirement that an applicant live in the
residence for any minimum period of time in order to be eligible for the exemption.

226. The Detroit Defendants’ denial of Ms. Aikens’s application for a poverty

exemption in 2014 was arbitrary and capricious.
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227. Itis likely that Ms. Aikens’s income will fall below the poverty line in future tax
years, and she will again apply for the poverty exemption. Absent intervention by the Court, it is
likely that she will encounter a similarly arbitrary and capricious denial of the exemption.

D. Edward Knapp

228. Edward Knapp is a 67-year-old resident of Detroit.

229.  Mr. Knapp has lived in Detroit, and in Brightmoor specifically, on and off since
birth. He served in the Navy in California during the Vietnam War. In 2011, after being
homeless, he returned to Michigan to start a new life.

230. Mr. Knapp owns and occupies his home as his principal residence.

231.  Mr. Knapp’s home is located in Brightmoor.

232.  Mr. Knapp purchased his home in October 2011. The condition of Mr. Knapp’s
home at the time he purchased it required him to put extensive work, time, and money into it to
ensure it was habitable.

233.  Mr. Knapp’s annual income is approximately $17,000 from social security. Mr.
Knapp has been receiving social security since 2010. His income is below the poverty level set
by the City of Detroit to receive a partial exemption.

234. Mr. Knapp has difficulty paying his property taxes by reason of his poverty.

235.  Under Michigan state law and Defendant City of Detroit’s policy, Mr. Knapp’s
annual income entitles him to receive a partial exemption from property taxes due to his poverty.

236. In 2014, Mr. Knapp went to the Coleman A. Young Municipal Center to apply for
a poverty exemption. He had to walk almost twenty blocks after finding parking he could afford.
Mr. Knapp then waited approximately 45 minutes until someone asked his name and informed

him that they would mail him an application.
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237.  After several weeks of not receiving the application, Mr. Knapp drove back to the
Municipal Center to inquire as to its status. He was told that he was in the system and it would
be mailed to him.

238.  Mr. Knapp returned to the Municipal Center to ask for an application on four or
five separate occasions.

239.  Mr. Knapp received the poverty exemption application in the mail the day after
the printed deadline on the application. Because the deadline had passed, Mr. Knapp did not
apply.

240. Mr. Knapp was unable to complete the second step of the poverty exemption
application in 2014 due to the Detroit Defendants’ late mailing of the poverty exemption
application. The Detroit Defendants, in effect, improperly denied Mr. Knapp a poverty
exemption in 2014.

241. The Detroit Defendants’ denial of Mr. Knapp’s application for a poverty
exemption in 2014 was arbitrary and capricious.

242. It is likely that Mr. Knapp’s income will make him eligible for a poverty
exemption from property taxes in future tax years, and he will again apply for the poverty
exemption. Absent intervention by the Court, it is likely that he will encounter a similarly
arbitrary and capricious denial of the exemption.

Class Action Allegations

243. Plaintiffs Walter Hicks, Spirlin Moore, Dewhannea Fox, DeAunna Black, and
Robert Lewis bring this action as a class action, pursuant to MCR 3.501, individually and on
behalf of a proposed class consisting of African-American homeowners living in homes in

Wayne County that were foreclosed on in 2016 for nonpayment of property taxes in 2013, or for
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failure to make payments in accordance with payment plans they entered to resolve unpaid tax
obligations for taxes assessed in years before 2013 (the “Over-Assessment Class”).

244. Plaintiffs Walter Hicks, Spirlin Moore, Julia Aikens, and Edward Knapp bring
this action as a class action, pursuant to MCR 3.501, individually and on behalf of a proposed
class consisting of Detroit homeowners who applied for a poverty exemption from 2013 to the
present and were denied process (the “Poverty Exemption Class”).

245. There are over 3,000 members of the Over-Assessment Class, and there are more
than 350 members of the Poverty Exemption Class. The members of the Classes are so
numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable.

246. Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of each member of each Class.
Plaintiffs are members of the Class they seek to represent, and Plaintiffs were injured by the
same wrongful conduct that injured other members within the Classes.

247. The Defendants have acted wrongfully in the same basic manner as to all
members within each Class.

248. There are questions of law and fact common to all Class Members within each
Class that predominate over any questions that, if they exist, affect only individual Class
Members, including:

a. whether it is the Wayne County Defendants’ practice of foreclosing on owner-
occupied homes despite the fact that many of the foreclosed properties have been
over-assessed and over-charged property taxes in violation of Michigan state law;

b. whether the Wayne County Defendants’ foreclosure practices disparately impact
African-American homeowners in Wayne County in violation of the Fair Housing

Act;
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whether the Detroit Defendants’ process for obtaining a poverty exemption,
including the numerous documents that are required to support an application for
the exemption, is so unduly burdensome that it violates the due process rights of
homeowners;

whether the Detroit Defendants have a policy or practice of failing to mail poverty
exemption applications to homeowners who have requested them;

whether homeowners who request a poverty exemption application the Detroit
Defendants regularly receive an application via mail just days before the
application deadline, leaving insufficient time for applicants to prepare supporting
materials;

whether homeowners who request a poverty exemption application from the
Detroit Defendants regularly receive an application via mail bearing a return date
that has already passed, which precludes or discourages applicants from seeking
the exemption and in effect denies them the poverty exemption in violation of due
process;

whether the Detroit Defendants have a policy or practice of failing to inform
poverty exemption applicants when their applications have been denied;

whether the Detroit Defendants have a policy or practice of imposing additional
requirements that are not printed on the application guidelines and of denying
applications for failing to meet those additional requirements; and

whether the Detroit Defendants have a policy or practice of issuing denial letters
that fail to identify the reasons an applicant’s poverty exemption application was

denied.
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249.  Plaintiffs and their chosen counsel will adequately represent the interests of the
class.

250. Plaintiffs have selected counsel who are experienced with class action litigation.

251. Class litigation is superior to individually litigating the claims of each member of
each class.

Causes of Action

COUNT1
RACE DISCRIMINATION IN VIOLATION OF THE FAIR HOUSING ACT
(42 USC 3601-3619)

252. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the preceding paragraphs of this
Complaint as though set out here word for word.

253.  Under the Fair Housing Act, it is unlawful for any person, including a
municipality or other governmental entity, to “make unavailable or deny[] a dwelling to any
person because of race.” 42 USC 3604(a).

254. A governmental body violates 42 USC 3604(a) when its neutral policies or
practices have an unjustified disparate impact on members of a racial group.

255. The Wayne County Defendants have a neutral policy of foreclosing on properties,
without regard to the inaccuracy of a property’s assessment and tax bill.

256. The Wayne County Defendants’ policies cause African-American homeowners in
Wayne County to lose their homes through tax foreclosure at a higher rate than non-African-
American homeowners in Wayne County.

257. The Wayne County Defendants have no legitimate justification for foreclosing on
properties based on inaccurate and inflated tax bills. Even if there is a legitimate justification,
there are less discriminatory alternatives available to the Wayne County Defendants that would

achieve the same interests as these policies and practices.
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258. The Wayne County Defendants’ policies and practices as alleged herein constitute
discrimination in violation of the Fair Housing Act, 42 USC 3604(a).

259. Plaintiffs and members of the Over-Assessment Class who have been subjected to
the Wayne County Defendants’ discriminatory housing practices are aggrieved persons as
defined by the Fair Housing Act, 42 USC 3602(i). They have suffered actual injury as a result of
the Wayne County Defendants’ conduct as described herein, and will be further injured if the tax
foreclosure process is permitted to go forward.

COUNT II

VIOLATION OF DUE PROCESS
(US Const, Am XIV; Const 1963, art 1, § 17; 42 USC 1983)

260. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the preceding paragraphs of this
Complaint as though set out here word for word.

261. The United States Constitution and the Michigan Constitution prohibit the
government from depriving individuals of property interests without due process of the law.
U.S. Const, Am XIV; Const 1963, art 1, § 17.

262. 42 USC 1983 allows individuals to bring actions against state actors for
deprivations of federal constitutional and statutory rights.

263. Michigan law allows individuals to bring actions against state actors for
deprivations of rights guaranteed by the Michigan Constitution.

264. The Detroit Defendants’ unduly burdensome process for receiving a poverty
exemption and general misadministration of the poverty exemption application process have
resulted in denials of the poverty exemption to which Plaintiffs and members of the Poverty
Exemption Class were entitled, in violation of their constitutional right to due process. The
Detroit Defendants have failed to provide members of the Poverty Exemption Class with notice

and a meaningful opportunity to be heard prior to denying their requests for a poverty exemption,
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in violation of the Michigan Constitution and the United States Constitution. U.S. Const, Am

XIV; Const 1963, art 1, § 17.

Praver for Relief

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and each Class, pray for relief as

follows:

A. On Plaintiffs’ First Cause of Action, Plaintiffs and the Over-Assessment Class

respectfully request that the Court enter judgment:

1.

5.

Declaring that the Wayne County Defendants’ policies and practices, as
alleged herein, violate the Fair Housing Act, as amended, 42 USC 3601-
3691;

Enjoining the Wayne County Defendants from continuing their practice of
foreclosing on owner-occupied properties without regard to whether a
property has been over-assessed;

Requiring the Wayne County Defendants to take all necessary and
appropriate affirmative steps to correct the continuing effects of their past
and present discriminatory practices;

Requiring such action by the Wayne County Defendants as may be
necessary to restore all persons aggrieved by their discriminatory housing
practices to the position they would have occupied but for such
discriminatory conduct; and

Awarding such other and further relief as the Court deems proper.

B. On Plaintiffs’ Second Cause of Action, Plaintiffs and the Poverty Exemption

Class respectfully request that the Court enter judgment:
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1. Finding that the Detroit Defendants’ unduly burdensome poverty

exemption application process, inaction on poverty exemption

applications, inadequate notice when applications are denied, and general

misadministration of the poverty exemption application process violated

the due process rights of members of the Poverty Exemption Class;

2. Requiring the Detroit Defendants to allow Plaintiffs and members of the

Poverty Exemption Class to apply retroactively for poverty exemptions for

the 2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016 tax years;

3. Requiring the Detroit Defendants to remove the unduly burdensome

documentary requirements from the poverty exemption application

process and to ensure adequate procedural due process is extended to all

poverty exemption applicants going forward; and

4. Awarding such other and further relief as the Court deems proper.

/s/ Sherrilyn Hill

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Michael J. Steinberg

Sherrilyn Ifill"
Director-Counsel

Janai Nelson"

Christina Swarns

Joshua Rosenthal”

NAACP LEGAL DEFENSE AND EDUCATIONAL
FUND, INC.

40 Rector Street, 5th Floor

New York, NY 10006

cswarns@naacpldf.org

jrosenthal@naacpldf.org

Michael J. Steinberg (P43085)

Daniel S. Korobkin (P72842)
Mark P Fancher (P56223)

Kimberly Buddin (P79126)

AMERICAN CIVIL LIBERTIES UNION FUND
OF MICHIGAN

2966 Woodward Avenue

Detroit, MI 48201

(313) 578-6823

msteinberg@aclumich.org
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/s/ Coty Montag

/s/ Shankar Duraiswamy

Coty Montag’k

Ajmel Quereshi’

NAACP LEGAL DEFENSE AND EDUCATIONAL
FunD, INC.

1444 1 Street, NW, 10th Floor

Washington, DC 20005

cmontag@naacpldf.org

aquereshi@naacpldf.org

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

Dated: July 13, 2016

Shankar Duraiswamy

Sarah E. Tremont (P73809)
Amia L. Trigg*

Jason Grimes’

Wesley Wintermyer’
COVINGTON & BURLING LLP
One CityCenter

850 Tenth Street, NW
Washington, DC 20001-4656
(202) 662-6000
sduraiswamy@cov.com
stremont@cov.com
atrigg@cov.com
jgrimes@cov.com
wwintermyer@cov.com

* Pro hac vice motions to be filed.
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